FILED

SID. J. WHITE

NOV 1 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

ANTHONY MUNGIN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 81,358

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN A. BEEN #335142
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Anthony Mungin was charged by indictment filed March 26, 1992, with the 1990 first degree murder in Jacksonville, Florida, of Betty Jean Woods. (R1). The guilt phase trial was conducted from January 25, 1993, through January 28, 1993, and resulted in a verdict of guilty of first degree murder. (R324, T1057). The penalty phase trial was held on February 2, 1993, and resulted in a jury recommendation of the death sentence by a seven-to-five vote. (R382, T1256). On February 23, 1993, Judge John D. Southwood sentenced Anthony Mungin to death. (R401, T1291). A notice of appeal was filed February 24, 1993. (R411).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Guilt Phase

On Sunday, September 16, 1990, between 1:30 and 2:00 p.m., Ronald Kirkland stopped at the Lil' Champ store on Chaffee Road near Interstate 10, in Jacksonville. (T663-664). There was a tan or cream colored compact car parked in the lot. (T676). As Kirkland went in, a black man coming out of the store carrying a

brown bag almost knocked him over. (T664,671). Kirkland got a brief glimpse of the man as they passed; then, because he was angry at being bumped, Kirkland turned and saw the back of the man's head. (T677-678). The man coming out of the store had longish hair done up in a "jeri curl" and had a growth of beard. (T680-681). The beard could have been a couple of weeks old, but Kirkland could not give any estimate as to how old the growth appeared. (T681).

Kirkland did not see anyone in the store; he got a diet coke and waited for the clerk to return. (T664). A few minutes later, Kirkland noticed a woman lying on the floor behind the counter, near an open cash register. (T664-665,667). He removed two undissolved aspirins from the woman's mouth and attempted CPR; the woman started coughing blood; Kirkland turned her on her side and noticed a wound on the woman's head. (T665). Another customer came in and called 911. (T665). The other customer also looked at the open cash register. (T681). Kirkland did not know if the other customer checked both cash registers in the store. (T681-682). The woman, Betty Jean Woods, a store employee, was taken to a hospital. (T652,659,689). She died four days later of a gunshot wound to the head. (T639,661).

On September 16, 1990, the day he found Ms. Woods, Kirkland told a detective he was not sure he would be able to recognize the man who had come out of the store as he went in. (T682). On September 20, 1990, however, the same detective showed Kirkland six or seven photographs; Kirkland narrowed the pictures down to

three, then picked out a photograph of Anthony Mungin. (T671-674,683). In the photograph, Mungin had short hair and no beard. (Exhibit 7). The officer who showed Kirkland Mungin's photograph did not testify. Kirkland also identified Mungin in the courtroom. (T671).

An evidence technician lifted twenty-nine latent fingerprints from the crime scene. (T628-629). Most were from the door, but he also looked for fingerprints on the cash registers, the safe, and the counter top. (T628-629,631). No prints were lifted from the safe. (T629). No evidence was presented of any comparison of the latent prints obtained with Mungin's fingerprints. The evidence technician also observed a purse behind the counter in the Lil' Champ. (T630). He saw no indication that the purse had been gone through. (T630-631). The evidence technician testified that the scene had been contaminated before he arrived, and that various people had walked behind the counter. (T625). A shell casing was found on the floor of the Lil' Champ store. (T621-622).

Dennis Elder, a Lil' Champ Food Stores supervisor, arrived at the store at 2:15 or 2:30 p.m. the day of the shooting. (T688-689). Police were there and Ms. Woods was being taken away by a Life Flight helicopter. (T694). During a walk through the store with the police, Elder did not notice anything missing or out of place. (T694).

Elder performed what he called a "cash count." (T689). This involved calculating from the cash register records the amounts

taken in to determine how much money was supposed to be in the store. (T692-693). Elder would then count the cash actually in the store and determine whether the store was over or short. (T693). Elder determined that the store had \$59.05 less than the register reading indicated should have been there. (T694).

Elder testified the locations in the store where cash is kept are the two cash registers, a safe, a box under one of the registers, and in clips. (T690-692). The safe is out of sight. (T690-691). The box was for big bills. (T692). The clips were to hold money customers would give to prepay for gas; there was a different clip for each of the four gas pumps. (T691-692). After paying for gas, the clerk would give the customer change and put the prepaid cash from the clip in the cash register, the cash box, or the safe. (T691-692,699-700).

On the day of the shooting, only one of the cash registers would have been in use. (T695). The register that was not in use was in a locked down, turned off, drawer open, drawer empty position. (T696-697). The cash register that was used that day was also locked; when Elder opened it, he found approximately \$57 in the drawer. (T698-699). At some point, an "E" indicator was triggered on one of the cash registers. (T703-704). The "E" indicates that someone has tried to open the cash register other than by entering the "amount tendered." (T704). Elder could not remember when the "E" indicator showed up. (T704).

When Elder looked, there was no money in the cash box under the register and there was no money in the clips. (T705-706). He

said he had no way of knowing whether when Ms. Woods was shot there was any money in the clips or in the cash box. (T700). He acknowledged that a cash shortage caused by theft of money from the cash box or clips would cause a cash shortage in the amount of \$59.05 only if a customer had prepaid in that amount, which would be very odd, and he would not expect to find such an odd amount in the clips or cash box. (T700-702,706).

Elder also testified that company policy was never to have more than \$50 out of the safe. (T702). He said that whenever he had checked in the past, Ms. Woods had complied with that policy, and that if on the day of the shooting there had been \$59.05 in the cash box, in addition to the \$57 in the cash register, Ms. Woods would have been greatly over what the policy allowed. (T702-703).

The medical examiner testified that Ms. Woods was shot one time, with the entrance wound above her left ear. (T640,642, Exhibit 5). The bullet travelled left to right and slightly front to back. (T643). The bullet was recovered just underneath the scalp opposite the entrance wound. (T643). The treating physician observed at the entrance wound a powder burn about one quarter to one half inch in diameter. (T655-656). The medical examiner testified that powder burns are not present unless the shot is fired from a distance of eighteen inches or less. (T649). Closer shots would cause a smaller area of powder burn. (T649).

On September 18, 1990, Mungin was arrested at 614 Jim Cody Street, Kingsland, Georgia. (T836-837). A search of the house at

that address revealed, in a bedroom, a .25 caliber Raven semi-automatic pistol, bullets, and Mungin's Georgia identification card. (T837-843).¹ The state's firearms identification analyst determined that the bullet recovered from Ms. Woods had been fired from the pistol seized at 614 Jim Cody Street, and the shell casing recovered at the Lil' Champ store was ejected from the same gun. (T880-885).

The state called a number of witnesses who were referred to by both parties as Williams Rule witnesses. (T707-711). Before the first Williams Rule witness, defense counsel requested a Williams Rule instruction. (T707). The judge told the prosecutor he did not know what the witness would testify to (T708), and asked which of the purposes in the Williams Rule he should instruct on. (T709). The judge pointed out he could instruct on more than one purpose. (T709). The prosecutor told him to instruct on identity. (T709). The judge asked if that was all the prosecutor wanted. (T709). Before the first Williams Rule witness, the court instructed the jury that as to the next several witnesses, the evidence they received was to be considered only for the limited purpose of proving the identity of the defendant. (T712-713). The other crimes evidence was as follows:

On September 14, 1990, two days before the Jacksonville shooting, at approximately 10:30 a.m., Anthony Mungin drove up in

¹The identification card, Exhibit 15, indicated that Mungin's age at the time of the crime was twenty-four.

a dark Ford Escort to Bishop's Country Store in Monticello, Florida, near Interstate 10, came in, and asked for some cigarettes. (T714,719). William Rudd, the clerk on duty, noticed that Mungin was a clean-shaven, clean-cut young man; he thought Mungin might be in the Navy. (T725). Mungin was wearing a cap, but Rudd could see that there were no curls hanging from underneath the cap. (T726). When the Rudd turned to get the cigarettes, Mungin shot him in the back. (T719,721). Rudd saw Mungin then get money from the cash box that was kept under the counter. (T722). When Rudd regained consciousness, he found that the money in the cash register was also missing. (T723). Mungin's fingerprint was found on the cash box. (T781). The bullet was not removed from Rudd, but an expended shell was recovered in the store, and was determined to have come from the pistol that was seized at Jim Cody Road in Kingsland, Georgia. (T734,870,884-885). Mr. Rudd testified in this case, making an identification of Mungin in the courtroom. (T718-719).

The same day, September 14, 1990, at about 12:30 p.m., at the Carriage Gate shopping center on Thomasville Road near Interstate 10, in Tallahassee, Florida, Thomas Barlow witnessed Meihua Wang Tsai screaming and pointing at a black man in a red hat getting into an old faded red Escort with a Georgia tag. (T737-738). Barlow ran after the car and got the license plate number, which he gave to the police. (T740). The driver was wearing a cap, but Barlow was able to see that the driver did not have longish jeri curls coming from underneath the cap; he

testified that the driver's head was clean shaven in the back, or was cut close to the scalp. (T742-743).

A bullet recovered from the head of Ms. Tsai was determined to have come from the gun that was seized at Jim Cody Road. (T756-758,884-885). Apparently one bullet had gone through Ms. Tsai's hand and hit her head, but did not cause her to lose consciousness. (T760-761). The bullet was removed with use of a local anaesthetic. (T761). A spent shell recovered from the carpet of the Lotus Accents store at Carriage Gate was determined to have been fired from the same gun. (T748,884-885). Mungin's fingerprint was found on a receipt in the Lotus Accents store. (T750-752,785).

The witness, Barlow, was shown a photograph of a red Ford Escort that was stolen from in front of the Kings Lodge in Kingsland, Georgia, on September 13, 1990, and recovered, stripped of its tires, in Jacksonville, Florida, on September 18, 1990; Barlow identified that car as the one he saw being driven away from the Carriage Gate shopping center. (T739,795-798,820-823). Kings Lodge, where the Escort was stolen, is about a mile from Jim Cody Road, where Mungin was arrested. (T836).

In Jacksonville, about a mile from where the Escort was recovered, a four door Dodge Monaco Royal, a big car, white with a tan vinyl roof, was stolen on September 15 or September 16, 1990. (T799,802-803,806). The Dodge was recovered on September 18, 1990, near Kingsland, Georgia, about seventy-five to one hundred yards from the house where Mungin was arrested.

(T826,828). Two expended shells found in the Dodge Monaco were determined to have been used in the gun that shot Ms. Woods. (T828,853,884-885).

At the conclusion of the other crimes evidence, the judge instructed the jurors again that such evidence was to be considered only as proof of the identity of the defendant. (T829).²

At the close of the state's case, defense counsel moved for judgment of acquittal as to premeditated murder based on insufficiency of evidence of premeditation, and moved for judgment of acquittal as to felony murder based on insufficiency of evidence of the underlying felony of robbery. (T901-905). Both motions were denied. (T907). The judge instructed the jury on both premeditated murder (T1033-1034) and felony murder with robbery or attempted robbery as the underlying felony. (T1034-1037). The jury reached a general verdict of guilty of first degree murder. (R324, T1057).

Penalty Phase

The state called one witness during the penalty phase, Cecil Towle of the Tallahassee Police Department. (T1125). Towle testified to his interview of Meihua Wang Tsai, the victim of the Tallahassee shooting. (T1126-1127). At the time of the trial, Ms. Tsai was in China. (T1128). According to Towle, Ms. Tsai's

²The firearms identification expert's testimony came after the conclusion of the collateral crimes evidence, and was not explicitly subject to the limiting instruction, although some of the expert's testimony related to the collateral crimes.

account of the Tallahassee shooting was as follows:

A young black man came into the store and pushed a thumb bolt latch, locking the door. (T1127). He said he wanted a gift for a friend, she showed him a jewelry box, and he said he would take it. (T1127). She wrapped the box and gave the man a receipt book to sign. (T1127). The man gave her a fifty dollar bill. (T1127). When she pulled out a cash box to make change, the man pulled out a gun and told her to step back and get the money out of the cash box. (T1127). She pushed a Sonitrol alarm, which failed to activate, and she kept telling the man to get out, to leave. (T1127). The man started walking toward the front door and she followed him, telling him to leave. (T1127). The man stopped, turned back toward her, pulled the slide back on the pistol, and put it up to her head. (T1127). She threw her right hand up, turned her head to the right, and was shot through the hand into her head behind the right ear with the bullet ending up under her right cheek. (T1127-1128). She screamed for help. (T1128). The man went out the front door, and she followed, bleeding and screaming for help. (T1128).

The state offered records of Mungin's judgment and sentence for the Monticello and Tallahassee crimes. (T1135). As to the Monticello crime, the records showed judgments of conviction of attempted second degree murder and armed robbery with a firearm, and sentences of fifteen years prison on the attempted murder and twenty years concurrent on the robbery, with a three year mandatory term. (Penalty Phase Exhibit 3). As to the Tallahassee

crime, the records showed judgments of conviction of attempted first degree murder and armed robbery and a sentence of life in prison as a habitual offender on each, the life sentences to be served concurrently with each other and any other sentence being served. (Penalty Phase Exhibit 4).

Mungin's counsel called a number of witnesses during the penalty phase, starting with Mungin's grandmother, Hagar Mungin, of White Oak, Georgia. (T1137-1138). Mrs. Mungin and her husband had raised Mungin since he was five years old, apparently because Mungin's mother, who lived in New Jersey, had too many children and had to work. (T1139). Mrs. Mungin had raised fifteen children of her own before she took in Anthony. (T1140). Anthony's mother would visit once or twice a year. (T1143-1144).

Anthony Mungin attended elementary school in Woodbine, Georgia, and did fine there. (T1140). Mungin was a very manageable child, always quiet; he never gave his grandmother trouble. (T1141). He was honest and would help Mrs. Mungin and do as she told him. (T1143). He also got along well with his grandfather. (T1143). The Mungin home was in a remote area, with no children living near. (T1141-1142). Mrs. Mungin's youngest child still at home when she took in Anthony was about sixteen or seventeen. (T1145). He did play with Anthony. (T1145). Mrs. Mungin did not allow Anthony to bring other children home to play because she had raised enough children and she was raising Anthony; she did not want to raise any more. (T1141).

When Mungin was eighteen, he left his grandmother's house

and moved in with an uncle in Jacksonville. (T1142-1143).

Mungin's younger cousin, Angie Jacobs, testified that when she visited in Mrs. Mungin's home, she saw that Anthony was respectful of his grandparents, and seemed close to them. (T1147). Mungin's older cousin, Clifton Butler, confirmed that Anthony was obedient to his grandparents. (T1150). The grandfather walked with a stick, and Anthony would fetch things for him to save him from having to walk. (T1150). Butler said that while Anthony lived with his grandparents, he attended church regularly. (T1150-1151). Butler had not had much contact with Mungin in recent years. (T1151-1152).

Tracy Black testified that Mungin is the father of her daughter. (T1153-1154). When she got pregnant in 1985, Anthony asked her to marry him, but she decided not to accept, due to the influence of her family. (T1154). Their daughter, Jennifer, was born on April 28, 1986. (T1154). Mungin remained in contact with Black and the child. (T1154). He provided support for the first year after the child was born. (T1155).

Camden County, Georgia, Deputy Sheriff Malcolm Gillette, who had testified for the state during the guilt phase as to Mungin's arrest and to the recovery of the stolen Dodge Monaco, testified for the defense in the penalty phase. (T823-828, 1156-1157). He and Anthony were close friends in high school, and were on the wrestling team together. (T1157). Both were small boys. (T1157). The Anthony Mungin who Gillette knew was not violent at all; he was always quiet and got along with everybody. (T1157-1158).

Gillette had no contact with Mungin after 1984. (T1159).

Freddie Green, a Kingsland, Georgia, police officer, testified that he had known Anthony since elementary school. (T1160). In high school, Green was on the football team, and Anthony was the team manager. (T1161). Being team manager involved washing towels, jerseys, pants, cleaning up the locker room, bringing water to the field, and assisting as needed. (T1161). Mungin did a good job as team manager. (T1162). As to how Anthony got along with teachers and students at the high school, Green said he had never heard any complaints. (T1161-1162). Green had not had contact with Mungin since high school. (T1162-1163).

Ralph Pierce, the administrator of the Camden County School System, testified that when Mungin was a student at Camden County High School, Pierce was the athletic director and head football coach. (T1164). Anthony had tried out for football, but he was very small, a hundred pounds. (T1164). At the suggestion of Coach Brewer, an assistant coach, Anthony was made team manager. (T1164). As team manager, Anthony was responsible for making sure the equipment was in good working order and the players had what they needed, such as their game shoes. (T1165). There was a lot of work to be done, and Mungin was dedicated to the job. (T1165). Mungin was trustworthy; he always had the coach's keys and access to everything. (T1165). Pierce felt that Anthony enjoyed the camaraderie of being with the team and the coaches. (T1165). Anthony would also sometimes rake leaves at Pierce's

house to earn a few dollars. (T1166). Pierce said that Anthony was not aggressive or violent toward other students. (T1166).

Gene Brewer, the assistant superintendent for the Harris County, Georgia, schools, testified that he had known Anthony at Camden County High School. (T1167-1168). Brewer said Mungin had come out for football in the spring of his eighth grade year, but had weighed only 85 or 88 pounds and the equipment was too heavy for him. (T1168). Brewer recruited Anthony for team manager, and also for wrestling in the hundred pound class. (T1168). Mungin was a varsity wrestler for three years. (T1169). Anthony was very small, even for his weight class, but he wanted very much to be a member of the team, so he had to work hard. (T1169-1170). This involved eating properly, working out with weights, running, attending every practice, doing his very best, and being prepared to accept defeat. (T1169-1170). Team members were also expected to act appropriately in class and in the community. (T1170).

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