FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 8 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

ANTHONY MUNGIN,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 81,358

By_

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Glenn Young, a correctional/probation officer working in the classification department of the Cross City Correctional Institution, was called as a defense mitigation witness (T 1176). The relevant portions of Young's testimony are reproduced verbatim in Appellant's brief, and need not be repeated here. Appellant argues that the jury was misled about the legal effect of his prior life sentence.

Of course, whether or not any of Young's testimony was relevant, <u>see King v. Dugger</u>, 555 So.2d 355, 359 (Fla. 1990), and whether or not it was accurate, it was offered at the behest of, and without objection by Appellant. Hence, not only has no issue here been preserved by Appellant, any possible error was actually <u>induced</u> by Appellant. <u>McCrae v. State</u>, 395 So.2d 1145, 1152 (Fla. 1980). Recognizing this, Appellant contends that "fundamental error" has occurred. But this is not the kind of issue that this Court has found to be "fundamental." Smith v.

- 21 -

<u>State</u>, 240 So.2d 807, 810 (Fla. 1970); <u>Farinas v. State</u>, 569 So.2d 425 (Fla. 1990).

In any event, Appellant's argument that the jury was misled fails for the very simple reason that the information provided to While Appellant, at the time of this the jury was accurate. trial, apparently had already been sentenced to life as an habitual offender for at least one of the Williams rule crimes,⁷ and was therefore ineligible for either parole or gain time, Haas v. State, 625 So.2d 103 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), nevertheless, lifesentenced habitual offenders may accumulate incentive gain time on paper, so that if the life sentence is commuted to a term of years, accumulated incentive gain time will be applied to the Burdick v. sentence. Fla. Admin. Code Rule 11.0065(5)(g); State, 584 So.2d 1035, 1038-39 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). Such an offender may become eligible for conditional release. Bell v. State, 573 So.2d 10 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). Moreover, while Appellant, as a life-sentenced habitual offender, is not now eligible for control release, §947.146(3), control release provisions may be and have been changed and applied retroactively to persons previously ineligible for control release. State v. Fla. Parole Commission, 624 So.2d 324 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). See also Dolan v. State, 618 So.2d 271, 273 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1993) (noting that provisions concerning ineligibility for control

^{&#}x27; The only evidence about his prior sentence is Young's testimony that Appellant was "in for first-degree murder, felony, attempted, as a habitual offender doing a life sentence with a three-year minimum mandatory sentence. . ." (T 1177).

release "are, of course, subject to legislative amendment, and may be expanded or restricted in the future").

Furthermore, this Court has noted that the pardon and clemency power granted to the Governor and his Cabinet are "quite sweeping" in nature, and, except for cases of treason, are not limited by the constitution nor by the availability of court review. <u>Advisory Opinion to Attorney General</u>, 642 So.2d 724, 726 (Fla. 1994). Therefore, no one can "ensure" or guarantee that any prisoner will serve any minimum percentage of his or her sentence. <u>Ibid</u>.

The foregoing makes it clear that Young did not misstate the law when he testified that controlled release and conditional release are not available to life-sentenced inmates (T 1181), unless the Governor takes some unspecified action (T 1178), but that sentencing laws change "quite frequently" (T 1180), and that while life-sentenced inmates serve "more" of their time (T 1180), Young could not "guarantee" that Appellant would not be released in "five, ten, fifteen, or twenty years from now" (T 1182).

The trial court correctly instructed the jury that the punishment for the crime of which the jury had convicted Appellant would be either death or life imprisonment without possibility of parole for 25 years (T 1123- 1247, 1249, 1250). See former F.S.A. §775.082 (prior to 1994 amendment). No incorrect instructions were delivered to the jury, and no incorrect information was otherwise imparted to the jury.

A state may choose to allow the introduction in evidence of accurate information about the possibility that a life-sentenced inmate may be released. Since no inaccurate information was

- 23 -

given to this jury, there is no constitutional error in this case, even if this Court were to excuse appellant's failure to preserve any objection to Young's testimony. Simmons v. South Carolina, U.S. , 114 S.Ct. 2187, 129 L.Ed.2d 133 (1994); California v. Ramos, 463 U.S. 992, 103 S.Ct. 3446, 77 L.Ed.2d 1171 (1983). Appellant is therefore restricted to arguing that insistence - of accurate introduction - at his own the information about the possibility of his future release is fundamental error under state law. But even the admission of "extremely prejudicial" evidence does not render the trial itself illegal, so as to excuse a failure to object to that evidence. Watson v. State, 633 So.2d 525 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). In this case, the evidence was not extremely prejudicial. At most, appellant's evidence was not quite as favorable as he might have liked, but appellant still was able to argue to the jury that he was ineligible for parole as a life-sentenced inmate, and that it was unlikely that the legislature would change the law to allow an early release for a multi-life sentenced offender like appellant. (T 1236-37).

Nothing about this evidence reaches down to the "very legality of the trial itself" or otherwise compels a findings of fundamental error. <u>Smith v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Ray v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1981). Appellant himself introduced this evidence. He ought not now be heard to complain about it.

ISSUE V

THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS BOTH THE ROBBERY AND THE PECUNIARY GAIN FACTORS; THEREFORE, THE TRIAL COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS AND FINDINGS WERE PROPER

As discussed earlier, the evidence in this case supports a finding that appellant killed Betty Jean Woods while he was engaged in the commission of or an attempt to commit the crime of armed robbery. It follows that the trial court's instructions and findings relative to the robbery and pecuniary gain factors were proper. (It should be noted that the trial judge gave the jury appropriate instructions concerning a possible doubling of these two factors (T 1247), <u>see Castro v. State</u>, 597 So.2d 259 (Fla. 1992), and merged these two findings, treating them as one aggravating factor (R 398)).

Further discussion of the appropriateness of the death sentence is continued in appellee's response to Issue VIII.

ISSUE VI

APPELLANT'S AGE OF 24 COULD NOT BY ITSELF ESTABLISH A MITIGATING FACTOR, AND THE TRIAL JUDGE HAD NO OBLIGATION TO INSTRUCT THE JURY AS TO AN ALLEGED MITIGATOR NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE

As appellant concedes, an age of 24 is "iffy" as a mitigating circumstance. <u>King v. Dugger</u>, 555 So.2d 355, 358 (Fla. 1990). An age of 24 alone "will not establish a mitigating factor." <u>Scull v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 1137, 1143 (Fla. 1988). As the trial court's sentencing order points out, there is no evidence in this case that appellant is mentally or emotionally immature, and he has been on his own for years (R 398-399). His age was not mitigating, and the court acted within its discretion

not to instruct the jury on the age mitigating factor. <u>Cave v.</u> <u>State</u>, 476 So.2d 180, 187 (Fla. 1985); <u>Lara v. State</u>, 464 So.2d 1173, 1179 (Fla. 1985). Nothing in <u>Smith v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1986), overrules <u>Cave</u> or <u>Lara</u>. By its own terms, <u>Smith</u> did "not establish a maximum age below which the [age] instruction must always be given", <u>Id.</u> at 1067, and certainly does not compel such an instruction for a 24-year-old defendant. (Smith was 20). In any event, the jury was authorized to consider appellant's age under the general mitigation instruction. (T 1248). <u>Echols v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 568 (Fla. 1985).

ISSUE VII

THE TRIAL JUDGE'S SENTENCING ORDER PROPERLY CONSIDERED AND WEIGHED THE EVIDENCE OF POSSIBLE NONSTATUTORY MITIGATING FACTORS

In his closing argument to the jury, appellant's attorney argued that appellant had been a well-mannered, non-violent and responsible child until he became involved with drugs in his late teens, that he was not mentally disordered or antisocial and therefore had good rehabilitation potential, had adjusted well in prison, and would not be eligible for parole for at least 25 years (T 1234-1245). After the jury returned its advisory recommendation of death, the court conducted a sentencing hearing. Appellant's counsel did not present a written memorandum to the court, but, in his oral argument to the court, mentioned as possible mitigation appellant's rehabilitation potential and his remorse (T 1276-1279).

The trial court's order dealt with all of these arguable mitigating circumstances. The trial court's order notes that appellant "offered testimony from numerous witnesses including family members, friends, former schoolmates, and teachers, who stated that they knew the Defendant throughout his high school (R 399). However, because these witnesses had not been years." in contact with appellant since he was 18, the trial court attached "no significance or value to this evidence." (R 399). Appellant argues that, because the order does not identify the "substance" of this testimony, the trial judge failed to consider the very evidence he refers to in his order. This argument is Valle v. State, 581 So.2d 40, 49 (Fla. 1991) (where specious. trial judge's order noted the testimony of witnesses and stated that he had considered the evidence, the "mere fact that the judge made no further reference to Valle's mental state at the time of the crime does not mean that the court gave it no consideration.").

The trial judge was authorized to conclude that it was not relevant mitigating evidence. While good character may well be mitigating, <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987), when the only good character evidence presented on behalf of an adult defendant comes from his childhood, and there is no evidence that he has acted responsibly and nonviolently, or has supported his child since becoming an adult - when, in fact, the evidence shows just the opposite - it surely is within the court's discretion to determine that a defendant's good behavior as a child does nothing to ameliorate the enormity of the crime. <u>Eutzy v. State</u>, 458 So.2d 755, 759 (Fla. 1984). See <u>also Zeigler v. State</u>, 580 So.2d 127, 130 (Fla. 1991); <u>Francis v. State</u>, 529 So.2d 670, 673 (Fla. 1988). As this Court has held, there are "no hard and fast rules about what must be found in mitigation in any particular case . . . Because each case is unique, determining what evidence might mitigate each individual defendant's sentence must remain within the trial court's discretion." <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 568 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1990).

But even if the trial court erred by attaching "no significance or value" to appellant's good behavior as a child, any error is harmless. In view of the statutory aggravators presented in this case, and the absence of any statutory mitigators, the court's sentence would have been the same even if the court had found that appellant's good childhood has some mitigating weight. <u>Wickham v. State</u>, 593 So.2d 191 (Fla. 1991); <u>Cook v. State</u>, 581 So.2d 141 (Fla. 1991); <u>Rogers v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, 511 So.2d at 535.

Appellant also complains about the trial court's discussion of Dr. Krop's testimony, arguing that the order does not refer to appellant's good functioning in prison and "totally ignored" Dr. Krop's testimony about appellant's drug and alcohol abuse.

Appellee would note that there is no evidence that appellant was under the influence of drugs or alcohol when he committed the murder of Betty Jean Woods, or when he committed either of the two prior violent felonies. Appellee would further note that appellant had the burden at trial to "identify for the court the specific nonstatutory mitigating circumstances" he was trying to establish. <u>Lucas v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 24. It is questionable whether he identified within the requisite specificity either of the two omissions he alleges here.

- 28 -

In any event, while the trial court's order is only a summary of Dr. Krop's testimony, and not a verbatim recount of the order's reference to Dr. Krop's testimony about it, appellant's mental condition and rehabilitation potential implicitly encompasses appellant's drug and alcohol abuse and his The trial court properly considered and prison functioning. Thompson v. State, 19 Fla.L.Weekly S632, weighed this evidence. 634 (Fla. 1994); Armstrong v. State, 19 Fla.L.Weekly S397, 400 (Fla. 1994); Atwater v. State, 626 So.2d 1325 (Fla. 1993). The order is sufficient to show that the sentence was imposed in the exercise of "reasoned judgment". Holmes v. State, 374 So.2d 944, 950 (Fla. 1979).

ISSUE VIII

THE DEATH PENALTY IS APPROPRIATE PUNISHMENT FOR APPELLANT

Appellant's argument on this issue is premised upon his hope that this Court will find the evidence insufficient to support the robbery/pecuniary gain aggravator. Since the trial court's findings are supported by the record, appellant's argument fails.

Appellant has shot one man in the back and two women in the head, and has committed (or at least attempted) three armed robberies. There is no substantial mitigating evidence in this record. Appellee cannot agree with appellant's argument that the record fails to show a propensity to violence.

Moreover, appellee would take issue with appellant's further argument that he is a person "whose character is basically good." (Appellant's brief at p. 93). Appellee would point out that appellant filed a pretrial motion in which he gave notice that he

- 29 -

was waiving the mitigating circumstance of "no significant history of prior criminal activity," and moved the trial court <u>in</u> <u>limine</u> to prohibit the state from producing at the penalty phase any evidence of his prior criminal activity unless it was relevant to prove a statutory factor (R 193). After hearing (T 49-50), the motion was granted (R 241).

Having successfully excluded any evidence of criminal activity other than the two prior violent felonies that were committed shortly before the crime on trial, appellant ought not now be able to argue to this Court that his character is "basically good".

Insofar as appellant's adulthood is concerned, there is no evidence that would justify an inference that anything about his character should "reduce the weight" (Appellant's brief at p. 93), of the aggravators found in this case.

There are two statutory aggravating factors in this case: (1) the merged robbery/pecuniary gain factor, and (2) appellant has been convicted of two prior violent felonies. There were no statutory mitigating factors and the nonstatutory mitigators are compelling. Appellant's death sentence is not not Melton v. State, 638 So.2d disproportionate to similar cases. 927 (Fla. 1994) (death penalty proportionality warranted where murder committed for pecuniary gain; defendant had one prior violent felony conviction; no statutory mitigators and no compelling nonstatutory mitigators); Freeman v. State, 563 So.2d 73 (Fla. 1990) (same); White v. State, 446 So.2d 1031 (Fla. 1984) (death penalty appropriate where murder committed during a robbery; defendant had prior violent felony conviction; defendant had been drinking when he committed crime).

- 30 -

ISSUE IX

APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIMS HAVE NOT BEEN PRESERVED FOR REVIEW OR ARE MERITLESS

Appellee will respond to appellant's alphabetically-listed claims seriatim:

A. Here, appellant recasts his Issue I <u>Neil/Slappy</u> claim as a constitutional claim under <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986). No constitutional issue was raised below, so this claim is not preserved for appellate review.

In any event, since there was not <u>Neil/Slappy</u> error, there was no constitutional error.

B. Appellant's <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u> claim (443 U.S. 307, 99 S.Ct. 278, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979)), is without merit for reasons stated in appellee's argument in Issue II, post.

C. This Court is without power to grant appellant's request to overrule <u>Griffin v. United States</u>, 502 U.S. 46, 112 S.Ct. 466, 116 L.Ed.2d 371 (1991). For reasons discussed previously, appellant's claim here is without merit.

D, E, F, H, and I. These constitutional claims were not raised below and are not preserved for appeal. <u>Clark v. State</u>, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978).

G. Appellant's automatic-aggravator argument is without merit. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 19 Fla.L.Weekly S577, 581 (Fla. 1994); <u>White v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1981); <u>Lowenfeld v. Phelps</u>, 484 U.S. 231, 108 S.Ct. 546, 98 L.Ed.2d 568 (1988).

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